## **Supreme Court No.:**

Court of Appeals State of Washington Division I - No.: 707612

King County Superior Court No: 10-2-34403-9 SEA

CHANNARY HOR,

Petitioner,

VS.

CITY OF SEATTLE,

Respondents.

## **PETITION FOR REVIEW**

The Law Offices of Ben F. Barcus & Associates, PLLC
Paul A. Lindenmuth – WSBA #15817
Of Attorneys for Plaintiff
4303 Ruston Way
Tacoma, WA 98402
(253)752-4444/Facsimile:(253)752-1035
paul@benbarcus.com

#### I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner, Channary Hor – a quadriplegic – the Plaintiff before the Trial Court, and Appellant before Division One of the Washington State Court of Appeals, seeks review of the Court of Appeals' decision which affirmed an adverse verdict and judgment in favor of the City of Seattle. Below, Petitioner asserted claims relating to a negligent police pursuit. The Court of Appeals affirmed despite the fact that the Trial Court, *inter alia*, violated the Petitioner's "inviolate" right to a jury trial guaranteed by the Washington State Constitution, Article 1, § 21, by refusing to include in the verdict form two individually named Seattle police officer defendants, who were involved in the police pursuit, without a determination of the merits of Petitioner's claims against them.

The Court of Appeals erred in not only failing to find that the Trial Court's actions had violated Petitioner's constitutional right to a jury trial, but also by not providing her relief due to profound and prejudicial instructional error.

This Petition for Review presents to this Court a significant question of law under the constitution of the State of Washington, and involves issues of substantial public interest, relating to governmental misconduct and the government's obligation to maintain public safety when engaging in law enforcement. The Court of Appeals opinion in this

matter, broadly conflicts with decisions of this Court as well as other Courts of Appeal decisions. See Rules of Appellate Procedure 13.4(b)(1), (2), (3) and (4).

#### II. THE COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The Court of Appeals decision was filed on August 3, 2015 and is attached hereto as Appendices 1 through 32. The excerpts of the Trial Court's instructions to the jury are attached hereto as Appendices 33-41. (CP 2905-2943) The special verdict form which did not include the individually-named police officer defendants, is attached hereto as Appendices 42-44 (CP 2944-46). Plaintiff's proposed jury instruction No. 27 is at Appendices 45-46 and excerpts from the Trial Court's combined order on the parties' motions in limine are attached hereto as Appendices 47-52, (CP 1944,).

#### III. INTRODUCTION TO ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

On May 17, 2006 Petitioner, then 16 year old, Channary Hor, was rendered a quadriplegic when a vehicle in which she was a passenger, crashed at a high rate of speed into a rockery wall, as a result of being pursued by Seattle police officers Grant and Thorp.

On September 29, 2010, Ms. Hor filed this lawsuit seeking damages not only against Omar Tammam, the driver of the vehicle in which she was a passenger, but also the City of Seattle and the two police

officers who were involved in the May 17, 2006 police pursuit,

Officers Grant and Thorp. (CP 592-595).<sup>1</sup>

As a matter of fair mindedness, at the request of defense counsel Petitioner's counsel agreed to the entry of a stipulated order allowing the individual named officers to be removed from the case caption, only. The stipulated order was to ensure that during the pendency of the lawsuit the individual officers would not be negatively impacted with respect to their creditworthiness or effect their personal finances. (CB 2608-2611).

As developed in the course of pretrial and trial proceedings, it was undisputed that the Seattle Police Department, at the time in question, maintained a "restrictive pursuit policy" which precluded the initiation and/or continuation of a high speed pursuit for minor offenses. (Ex. 13) Under SPD policy the crime of "eluding," standing alone, cannot justify a high speed pursuit.<sup>2</sup> During the course of pretrial proceedings, the City and its officers, consistently in its pleadings and during the course of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> As Ms. Hor was a minor at the time of the motor vehicle collision the statute of limitation was tolled until her 18th birthday. RCW 4.16.190. She had 3 years from the date she reached the age of majority to file this lawsuit. RCW 4.16.080.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> See, *Mason v. Bitton*, 85 Wn.2d 321, 534 P.2d 1360 (1975). It is well recognized that high speed police pursuits are highly dangerous and when they go bad, which happens often, they have devastating consequences to innocent members of the public. See, *Seide v. State*, 875 A.2d 1259 (R.I. 2005); *Staley v. City of Omaha*, 73 N.W.2d 457 (Neb. 2006). Restrictive pursuit policies, such as those employed by the City of Seattle, have their origin in a study performed by Professor Geoffrey Alpert, Ph.D., *The Constitutional Implications of High Speed Police Pursuits under a Substantive Review Process Analysis; homeward Through the Haze, 27 U. Mem. L. REV. 599, 600 (1997) (Alpert); Day v. State 989 P.2d 1171, 1177 (Utah 1999).* 

discovery, denied that they were pursuing the vehicle within which Ms. Hor was a passenger. Based on the City's unequivocal litigation position, Judge Middaugh, the initially assigned trial judge, granted plaintiff's motion in limine precluding the City and its officers from claiming a statutory privilege applicable to emergency vehicles operating with emergency lights and/or sirens, which is codified in RCW 46.61.035.<sup>3</sup> (Appendices 51)

Despite the City's litigation position that there was no pursuit, and that the officers had abided by the City's pursuit policy, it was established before the Trial Court that Officer Thorp first encountered Omar Tammam and Ms. Hor in a parking lot within Seward Park and was investigating for nothing more than a park curfew violation. In response to Officer Thorp banging on Mr. Tammam's window with a flashlight, a startled Mr. Tammam put his car into gear and began rapidly driving away from

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> As pointed out at Page 6 of the Court of Appeals' opinion, the Trial Court's ruling on this motion in limine was predicated on "estoppel principles". Generally the doctrine of judicial estoppel precludes a party from asserting one position in a court proceeding and later seeking advantage by taking a clearly inconsistent position. See, *Arkison v. Ethan Allen, Inc.*, 160 Wn.2d 535, 538, 160 P.2d 13 (2007). Contrary to the Court of Appeals' observation on the same page, the fact that the judge who entered this ruling was not the actual trial judge is not a relevant consideration. See *Teter v. Deck*, 174 Wn.2d 207, 216 n.7 247 P.3d 336 (2012). Citing to *Shepard v. Gove*, 26 Wn. 452, 454, 67 P. 256 (1901). There was nothing tentative about Judge Middaugh's ruling on Petitioner's motion in limine and no further objection was required. See, *State v. Kelly*, 102 Wn.2d 188, 192-93, 685 P.2d 564 (1984) (parties not required to make further objections to preserve error when the court's ruling on motion in limine is unequivocal and non-tentative) Judge Middaugh's ruling addressed the City's pretrial actions, and nothing occurred during trial to warrant it's revision. Judge Ramsdell provided no rationale for disregarding the prior order of Judge Ramsdell.

the officer. Officer Thorp immediately jumped back into his patrol car and began a pursuit, which was joined in by Officer Grant who was patrolling near the park entrance in a second patrol vehicle. Though denying they pursued, both officers admitted they had initially engaged their emergency lights. (RP Vol. 17, p. 16-17).

Despite feigning a lack of recollection during the course of his deposition, Officer Thorp admitted to one of the defendant's accident reconstructionists that he was travelling between 60 to 65 miles per hour as he travelled **behind Officer Grant** southbound on Seward Park Avenue, (a residential street), while attempting to catch up with the Tammam vehicle. (Ex. 298, p. 5). According to the defense litigation position the officers were not engaged in a "pursuit", but were rather engaging in an "area search", supposedly without lights and sirens, within a residential neighborhood, while travelling between 60 to 65 miles per hour, in a 35 mile per hour zone.

Confronted with such information SPD Deputy Chief Kimmerer, who was the City's representative at trial, and a quasi-defense expert, testified that police officers have the legal authority to violate the rules of the road and disobey speed restrictions, even when they are operating without their lights and sirens, as required for the availability of the statutory privilege set forth within RCW 46.61.035. (RP Vol. 43,

p. 45-47). Defense counsel, during the course of his opening statement, asked the jury to rely on their personal experience where they may have observed police vehicles operating over the speed limit, even when it did not have their lights and sirens on. (RP Vol. 4, p. 46-47).<sup>4</sup>

Thus, even without considering Judge Middaugh's estoppel-based motion in limine ruling, the Court of Appeals' failed to recognize that under the unique factual posture of this case, Petitioner's proposed Instruction No. 27, (WPI 71.06), was not only supported by the facts, but necessary in order to dispel the defenses misleading and confusing misstatements of law, perpetrated by Chief Kimmerer and defense counsel during opening.<sup>5</sup>

After Mr. Tammam's car impacted the rockery, causing Ms. Hor's catastrophic injuries, he fled the scene. He was subsequently apprehended and evaluated by SPD Drug Recognition Officer Michl, who interviewed Mr. Tammam in the back of his patrol car, which had an operational internal video and audio recording system. (CP 40). Because such video

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Ms. Hor testified that the police officers had their lights on the entire time. Richard Harvey, who resided at the location of the accident, testified that immediately after hearing the crash, he was able to observe from his window the police officers approaching the accident site with their emergency lights on. Thus, given the undisputed facts the Court of Appeals' observation that the police officers merely "followed Tammam's car" is factually inaccurate. (Slip. Op. 2).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> A need for the Plaintiff's Proposed Instruction No. 27 (WPI 70.06), was fully explained within Appellant's Briefing before the appellate court, and at the time of oral argument. Thus, the Court of Appeals' observation that such a position was an unexplained "bald assertion" is puzzling. (Slip. Op. 6).

and audio would have provided substantial evidence regarding Mr. Tammam's level of impairment, at or around the time of the collision, Petitioner repeatedly demanded the production of such video, which, without plausible explanation, was never produced by the City. Plaintiff was precluded at time of trial from discussing such evidence, despite the fact that the defense was able to present to the jury the testimony of a drug expert, who over Petitioner's objection was able to opine with regard to Mr. Tammam's alleged impairment. Mr. Tammam was never convicted nor pled guilty to any drug related offenses arising out of his misconduct on May 17, 2006.

Similarly, on May 17, 2006, both Officers Thorp and

Officer Grant's vehicles were equipped with dash cams. Despite repeated
demands, such dash cam videos of the events were never produced by the

City. Again Petitioner was precluded from discussing the vanished

videos before the jury.

As part of his investigation, Officer Michl completed a "probable cause" affidavit, based on information gathered at the scene, including information provided by Officers Thorp and Grant (Appendice 58).

Despite the clear factual issues in this case, in part framed by the City's litigation position that there was supposedly no pursuit and thus no violation of City's no pursuit policy, the Trial Court excluded the affidavit

of probable cause, which provided an initial determination that Mr. Tammam had committed the crime of "eluding a police vehicle" by refusing to stop despite being chased by "marked Seattle Police cars with emergency lights on". (Ex. 42). Under the City's policy, eluding alone cannot justify a pursuit.

Trial on this matter commenced on June 4, 2013 and concluded on June 28, 2013, with the entry of a jury verdict against Mr. Tammam only.

In anticipation of case completion, on June 25, 2013 the trial court took "preliminary exception to jury instructions". (Appendice No. 52 - Clerk's Minutes p. 31).

On June 27, 2013, after the noon hour recess, the Trial Court took additional exception to the jury instructions, which occurred under the circumstances where Petitioner's counsel was given the Hobson's choice of either making detailed exceptions and using up allotted time available for closing arguments, which according to the trial judge, had to be completed that day, despite the fact the time remaining in the day was already deficient given that the trial was complex, and 4 weeks in length. Literally at the time exceptions were being taken, only 2 hours remained in the Court day.

Given the June 25, 2015 "preliminary exceptions" taken by Petitioner's counsel, it is puzzling that the Court of Appeals concludes that

the trial judge was not fully acquainted with plaintiff's full exceptions to instructions, (and the reasons therefore), which were not limited to, those exceptions which were taken on June 27, 2013 under prejudicial circumstances.

## IV. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Did the Trial Court violate Petitioner's "inviolate" right to a jury trial, under Washington State Constitution Article 1, § 21, by refusing to include the individually named officer defendants on the verdict form, when Petitioner's claims against them had not been dismissed on the merits, and when such non-inclusion was tantamount to a dismissal of meritorious claims under our laws and Constitution that should have been resolved by the jury?
- 2. Did the Court of Appeals apply the wrong standard of review to Petitioner's claim that her right to a jury trial had been violated by the non-inclusion of the individual defendants on the verdict form by requiring that the Petitioner established prejudice, when it has been previously recognized that when such a violation occurs, prejudice must be presumed, unless it is affirmatively show that there was no prejudice?
- 3. Did the Appellate Court err in its analysis of instructional error, by failing to give due consideration to the particular facts and issues in this case, when under the unique facts of this case, such errors served to

deny the Petitioner the ability to argue her theory of the case, (if not undermining the same), and resulted in instructions which were misleading and confusing and which overemphasized the defense's case?

#### V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

As discussed above, Channary Hor, who was found by the Trial Court to be a fault-free Plaintiff, was horrifically and catastrophically rendered a quadriplegic in an incident where there clearly is a question of fact as to whether or not the individually named police officer defendants were concurrently negligent, and whether such negligence was a proximate cause of her horrendous injuries.<sup>6</sup> This innocent 16 year old victim, was provided an inherently flawed trial which undermined her quest for justice against the City of Seattle and two of its police officers. Video evidence, which would have gone a long way toward resolving factual disputes in this case were unavailable, and at least in one instance, the Michl video, was unavailable without any plausible explanation. SPD internal documentation which either refuted or served to impeach the government's litigation position, that there was no pursuit and/or violation of SPD pursuit policy, was also rendered inadmissible. The individual officers, whom the jury should have been allowed to allocate fault within its verdict, were removed from the case for all intents and purposes,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> See *Mason v. Bitton*, 85 Wn.2d 321, 534 P.2d 1360 (1975).

without any proper jury determination of the merits of the Petitioner's claims against them. The instructions of the trial court were incomplete, an overemphasized the defense theory of the case and in many instances served to undermine the Petitioner's core theory of liability against the City and its defendant officers.

In response, the Court of Appeals issued an opinion which was equally as flawed, and which apparently misapprehended a number of Petitioner's arguments. The Court of Appeals, dismissively underestimates the likely impact the Trial Court errors had on the jury in this case.

As a result, Petitioner respectfully submits the following grounds for review by the Supreme Court of this case.

### VI. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

A. The Trial Court Denied Petitioner's Right to a Jury Trial by Refusing to Place the Individual Defendant Police Officers' Names on the Verdict Form Despite the Fact that She had Meritorious Claims Pending Against Them.

Article 1, § 21 of the Washington State Constitution provides under the heading of "Trial by Jury":

The right of trial by jury shall remain inviolate, when the legislature may provide for a jury of any number less than 12 in courts not of record, and for a verdict by nine or more jurors in civil cases in any court of record, and for waiving of the jury in civil cases where the consent of the parties interested is given thereto.

The right to trial by jury is inviolate and may not be impaired by either legislative or judicial action. See *Wilson v. Olivetti North America*, *Inc.*, 85 Wn.App. 804, 808, 934 P.2d 1231 (1997), citing to *Sofie v. Fiberboard Corp.*, 112 Wn.2d 636, 771 P.2d 711 (1989).

As recently and forcefully found by this Court in the case of *Davis* v. Cox, 183 Wn.2d 269, 351 P.3d 862 (2015), any legislative or judicial act which prevents a jury from resolving issues of disputed material facts, on meritorious, non-frivolous claims, is violative of Article 1, § 21. As indicated in Davis, at Page 288, "the term inviolate connotes deserving of the highest protection and indicates the rights must remain the essential component of our legal system that it has always been." Here, it is simply undisputed that Petitioner, within her complaint brought valid claims of negligence against not only the City of Seattle, but also both of the individual named officers. It was and is undisputed, that at no time were such claims dismissed on the merits against the individual officers, and the case resolved by way of a jury trial against them.

It is well-established that even when respondent superior principles apply, the plaintiff, at his or her election, may sue the employer or employee **or both**. See *Orwick v. Fox*, 65 Wn.App. 71, 80, 828 P.2d 12 (1992), citing, *James v. Ellis*, 44 Wn.2d 599, 605, 269 P.2d 573 (1954).

When judicial action has resulted in a denial of the right to a jury trial to a party who is adversely affected by such error "Prejudice [is] presumed unless it affirmatively appeared that there was not, and could not have been, any prejudice." *Jones v. Sisters of Providence in Washington, Inc.*, 141 Wn.2d 112, 118-19, 994 P.2d 838 (2000), citing to *State v. Cuzick*, 85 Wn.2d 146, 150, 530 P.2d 288 (1975). A "harmless error" is an error which is trivial, formal, or merely academic, and was not prejudicial to the substantial rights of the party assigning it, and in no way affected the outcome of the case." See *Mackay v. Acorn Custom Cabinetry, Inc.*, 127 Wn.2d 302, 311, 898 P.2d 284 (1995). Generally when a prejudicial error has occurred, and there is no way of knowing how it may have impacted and/or affected the jury in its deliberations it will not be deemed harmless. See *Salas v. Hi-Tech Erectors*, 168 Wn.2d 664, 673, 230 P.2d 583 (2010).

Here, quite plainly the Court of Appeals mistakenly presumed that the Petitioner had the burden of showing prejudice by the omission of the named individual defendant officers from the verdict form. (See *Slip.Op.* 15). The Court of Appeals was far too quick to assume that the jury's determination of non-liability on the part of the City overcame the above-referenced presumption of harm. Jury deliberations are a dynamic process and there is no way of telling what value this particular jury may have

placed on individual responsibility, as compared to entity liability. This is particularly so when it is undisputed that the City of Seattle had, "on paper", a detailed and well-thought-out pursuit policy. In contrast a reasonable juror, if afforded the opportunity to focus squarely on the individual accountability of the involved defendant officers, may very well have determined to impose liability against them, particularly considering that the jury could conclude that the officers were less-than candid with respect to the degree in which they pursued the Tammam vehicle and on the question of whether they abided and followed an otherwise proper pursuit policy.

Given the fact that the Trial Court, without any rational justification and/or excuse, failed to include the individual defendant officers on the verdict form, there is simply no way of knowing how such non-inclusion affected the jury's deliberation and the ultimate result.

Given the absence of any way of discerning such impact, the presumption of prejudice simply cannot be overcome.

## B. The Trial Court's Refusal to Give Petitioner's Proposed Instruction No. 27 (WPI 71.06) Under the Facts of This Case Was Prejudicial Error.

The Court of Appeals recognized that the propriety of any particular instruction is governed by the facts of the particular case, but unfortunately did not apply such principles. See *Fergen v. Sestero*, 182

Wn.2d 794, 803, 346 P.3d 708 (2015). (*Slip Op.* p. 3-4). The Appellate Court failed to apprehend that under one of the individual officer's version of events they were following the Tamman vehicle up Seward, reaching speeds up to 60-to-65 miles an hour, without lights and sirens on. Without Instruction No. 27, which provided a correct statement of law, (particularly given statements made by defense counsel and Deputy Chief Kimmerer), the jury was left with a false impression that such actions on the part of a police officer is completely permissible. WPI 71.06 is to the contrary and provides:

At the time of this occurrence, [defendant's] vehicle did not qualify to be operating as an emergency vehicle. Accordingly, the driver of the vehicle was governed by the same rules and standards as applied to the operators of motor vehicles generally.<sup>7</sup>

The trial court's failure to give Proposed Instruction No. 27 denied the Petitioner an opportunity to argue her theory of the case and, given the evidence and argument presented below, the giving of Court's Instruction No. 17, (WPI 71.01) resulted in a set of instructions which were misleading and incomplete. See *Keller v. City of Spokane*, 145 Wn.2d 237, 249, 44 P.3d 845 (2002) (misleading instructions are grounds for

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Under the terms of RCW 46.61.035 an authorized emergency vehicle is only entitled to the benefit of the emergency vehicle privilege statute when using lights and/or sirens. See *Lakoduk v. Cruger*, 48 Wn. 2d 642, 296 P.2d 690 (1956).

reversal).<sup>8</sup> As is apparent, given the facts of this particular case, the giving of such instruction was clearly supported by the facts.

## C. The Trial Court Erred by Giving Court's Instructions No. 26 and 27 Which Under the Facts of this Particular Case Undermined Petitioner's Theory of Liability.

In analyzing these two instructions it is suggested that the Appellate Court was overly concerned with legal niceties as opposed to the real and likely impact such instructions had on the jury when considering Petitioner's theory of liability in this case. (*Slip.Op.* Page 7-11)

The fundamental premise of the "science" applicable to high-speed police pursuits, is the notion that should a police officer discontinue a pursuit, the individual who is being pursued will stop fleeing and/or speeding, thus ending potential danger to members of the community.

See, e.g., *The Constitutional Implication of High-Speed Pursuits*, 27

U.Mem. L.REV. 599, (1997) (Alpert) *Suwanski v. Village of Lombard*, 794 N.E.2d 1016 (L Ill. App. 2003). By informing the jury that the police had "no duty to control Mr. Tammam", Instruction No. 26 confusingly suggested to the jury that the involved officers had no duty to cease actions which foreseeably would influence Mr. Tamman's behavior.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Such error exists regardless of whether or not the trial court had a valid basis for revising the earlier trial court's motion in limine decision which precluded the City from taking advantage of RCW 46.61.035.

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