RECEIVED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
Oct 01, 2015, 2:45 pm
BY RONALD R. CARPENTER
CLERK

SUPREME COURT NO. 92208-0

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

Court of Appeals No. 70761-2-I

CHANNARY HOR, Appellant

v.

CITY OF SEATTLE, Respondent

## ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

PETER S. HOLMES Seattle City Attorney

REBECCA BOATRIGHT, WSBA #32767 Assistant City Attorney

CHRISTIE LAW GROUP, PLLC ROBERT L. CHRISTIE, WSBA #10895

Attorneys for Respondent City of Seattle

Seattle City Attorney's Office 600 Fourth Avenue, 4<sup>th</sup> Floor P.O. Box 94769 Seattle, WA 98124-4769 (206) 684-8200



#

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

#### IV. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

Rule of Appellate Procedure 13.4(b) states that "[a] petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only:

- (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or
- (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals; or
- (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or
- (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

Ms. Hor broadly invokes all of these provisions in her petition, though focuses on RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (3). Because the issues presented do not raise a significant constitutional question, otherwise conflict with prior appellate decisions, or give rise to any basis to accept review, the petition should be denied.

# A. The Trial Court Did Not Abuse Its Discretion in Its Jury Instructions or Special Verdict Form

In general, "[j]ury instructions are . . . sufficient if they are supported by the evidence, allow each party to argue its theory of the case, and when read as a whole, properly inform the trier of fact of the

applicable law." Fergen v. Sestero, 182 Wn.2d 794, 803, 346 P.3d 708 (2015). Courts review legal errors in a jury instruction de novo. Id. (internal citation omitted). If a jury instruction correctly states the law, however, courts review for an abuse of discretion whether a certain jury instruction should be given. Id. at 802 (citing Christensen v. Munsen, 123 Wn.2d 234, 248, 867 P.2d 626 (1994)).

A trial court's refusal to give an instruction is also reviewed under the abuse of discretion standard. *Stiley v. Block*, 130 Wn.2d 486, 498, 925 194 (1996). The facts of the particular case govern the propriety of a jury instruction. *Fergen*, 182 Wn.2d at 803 (citing *Housel v. James*, 141 Wn. App. 748, 759, 172 P.3d 712 (2007)). An erroneous instruction is reversible only if it is prejudicial to a party and, unless that instruction contains a clear misstatement of law, the party challenging an instruction bears the burden of establishing prejudice. *Id.* (internal citations omitted).

#### (1) The Verdict Form Was Proper and Fair.

Courts review special verdict forms under the same standard as other jury instructions: "[w]hen read as a whole and with the general charge, the special verdict must adequately present the contested issues to the jury in an unclouded and fair manner." *Capers v. Bon Marche*, 91 Wn. App. 138, 142, 955 P.2d 822 (1998) (internal citations omitted). Here, Ms. Hor does not relevantly challenge that the jury was properly instructed

that "[a] City can act only through its employees. The knowledge gained and the acts and omissions of city employees while acting within the scope of their authority are deemed to be the knowledge, acts and omissions of the City." (CP 2910.) Nor does she contest that the jury was properly instructed that "[t]he law treats all parties equal whether they are government entities or individuals . . . ." (CP 2911; see also CP 2909 & 2020.)

Ms. Hor also does not challenge that she was required to show the negligence of the City *via* the negligence of its employees: that "codefendant City of Seattle, *through its employees*, acted or failed to act . . . and in so acting . . . was negligent." (CP 2914) (emphasis added). Indeed, as stated Ms. Hor's non-objection to removing the officers from the caption, "the city defendant, as their employer, is ultimately liable for the events giving rise to this action, including alleged negligent training." (CP 4096-97) (emphasis added).

And because the City could *only* be negligent through the acts and omissions of its officers, the jury *could not* find the officers negligent while the City was not. Having found that the City was not negligent in answer to Question 1 in the Special Verdict Form (Pet. App. at 42), the jury never reached the issue of proximate cause as to the City. It thus correctly followed the directive in Question 4 to only allocate fault "to

each defendant whose negligence was found by you in Question 2 to have been a proximate cause of the injury to the plaintiff." (Pet. App. at 43.) Since a jury is assumed by law to have followed the instructions, it would have been inherently inconsistent for it to have made these findings and yet have attempted to allocate fault to individual city employees.

There was no dispute that all of the officers' actions fell within the scope of their employment. *Cf. Niece v. Elmview Group Home*, 131 Wn.2d 39, 47-49, 929 P.2d 420 (1997); *Kuehn v. White*, 24 Wn. App. 274, 277-78, 600 P.2d 679 (1979). And Ms. Hor's primary reliance on both *Davis v. Cox*, 183 Wn.2d 269, 351 P.3d 862 (2015), and *Jones v. Sisters of Providence in Washington, Inc.*, 140 Wn.2d 112, 118-19, 994 P.2d 838 (2000), to invoke article 1, § 21 simply misses the mark. (Pet. at 12-13.)

For example, *Davis* holds that the anti-SLAPP statute, which created a non-summary judgment procedure to weigh evidence and otherwise dismiss claims that fail show a probability of prevailing, was unconstitutional. *Davis*, 183 Wn.2d at 289-94. The procedure violated article 1, section 21 because it resolved non-frivolous factual issues without a trial. *Id.* at 294. The anti-SLAPP statute, however, has no bearing here and *Davis'* procedural posture is unique. Ms. Hor was afforded a lengthy trial by which a jury resolved factual disputes. Simply because it decided that the City was not negligent by and through its

officers acting within the scope of their employment does not give rise to a reviewable issue of constitutional significance.

Jones is equally unhelpful because it holds that permitting an alternate juror to participate in jury deliberations violated Civil Rule 47(b). 140 Wn.2d at 117. The Court presumed prejudice because the "sanctity of the jury room" had been breached. *Id.* at 117-19 (internal citation omitted). Jones also had not waived the issue by failing to timely object due to the gravity of the issues raised, including "the integrity of the jury process itself." *Id.* at 118-120 (internal citation omitted). But *Jones* cannot be fairly construed as instructive on the standard of review for an alleged error on a verdict form. It also cannot be cited within the ambit of RAP 13.4(b) as a veritable conflict of law, or basis to expose an issue of constitutional significance. *Jones* is procedurally and factually inapposite.

Ms. Hor previously agreed to remove the officers from the caption. (CP 4096-97.) Her continued reliance on an "inaccurate" characterization of the record belies the weakness of her petition. (See Slip. Op. at 15 and Pet. at 9.) When read as whole, the verdict form was not "clouded" or unfair and Ms. Hor has not been prejudiced. It clearly permitted the jury to find the City negligent based on the actions of its officers and, had the jury found negligence to be a proximate cause of injury, attribute it by percentages. The jury thus properly decided the ultimate issue, and the

Court of Appeals appropriately affirmed. Ms. Hor's right to a jury has not been violated by this jury's verdict.

## (2) Proposed Instruction 27 Was Properly Refused.

Ms. Hor proposed Instruction 27 as a substitute for her previously offered and accepted Instruction 17. Though she later took exception to Instruction 17 and appealed that issue below, in her petition, Ms. Hor assigns no error to the Court of Appeals' ruling that 17 was a proper instruction, or that the trial court did not abuse its discretion by using it. (Pet. at 14-16.) The Court of Appeals ruled Instruction 17 was appropriately given because Hor "presented evidence at trial that the officers were negligent by engaging in a high speed pursuit . . ." and that she "argued this theory to the jury during closing." (*Slip op.* at 15.)

Instruction 17 informed the jury about the scope of the emergency vehicle privilege and duty owed by emergency vehicle drivers. However, as the court observed, there was a fundamental dispute over whether the police vehicles were operating as emergency vehicles. (*Slip Op.* at 7.) Pursuant to the note on use of WPIC 71.06, Ms. Hor's proposed Jury Instruction 27 should be used when a court has decided as a matter of law that a vehicle is not an emergency vehicle. 6 WASH. PRACTICE: WASH. PATTERN JURY INST.: CIVIL 71.06 (6th ed. 2012). The dispute in the evidence appropriately disqualified its use and the Court of Appeals

correctly affirmed.

## (3) Instructions 26 and 27.

With respect to Jury Instructions 26 and 27, Ms. Hor has conceded that 26 is "generally true" and 27 a "general truism." instructions were legally correct. Ms. Hor cites no binding authority to the contrary in her petition, and the Court of Appeals already distinguished other authorities upon which Ms. Hor previously relied. (Slip Op. 7-10.) Ms. Hor instead asserts that Instructions 26 and 27 confused, mislead, or "suggested to the jury that Petitioner's theory was legally unworthy of consideration." (Pet. at 17.) These conclusory assertions do not satisfy RAP 13.4(b).

To overemphasize one party's theory of the case, "the instructions on a particular point must be so repetitious as to generate 'extreme emphasis' that 'grossly' favors one party over the other." Adcox v. Children's Orthopedic Hosp. & Med. Ctr., 123 Wn.2d 15, 38, 864 P.2d 921, 935 (1993) (internal citations omitted). Viewed as a whole, there is simply no basis to conclude that legally accurate instructions "grossly" overemphasized the City's theory of the case. Instructions 26 and 27 are not repetitious, and the Court of Appeals correctly and thoroughly addressed this issue.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Slip Op. at 7; App. Br. at 34. <sup>8</sup> Pet. at 17-18.

## (4) Instructions 23, 24, and 25 Cannot Be Directly Challenged.

This Court has observed that an "appeal of alleged erroneous instruction in the trial court depends on the action appellant took in that court." *Ryder's Estate v. Kelly-Springfield Tire Co.*, 91 Wn. 2d 111, 114, 587 P.2d 160, 162 (1978). Civil Rule 51(f) unambiguously states the procedure to preserve alleged instructional error:

Before instructing the jury, the court shall supply counsel with copies of its proposed instructions which shall be numbered. Counsel shall then be afforded an opportunity in the absence of the jury to make objections to the giving of any instruction and to the refusal to give a requested instruction. The objector shall state distinctly the matter to which he objects and the grounds of his objection, specifying the number, paragraph, or particular part of the instruction to be given or refused and to which objection is made.

CR 51(f) (emphasis added). Ms. Hor appropriately concedes that CR 51(f) operates to require a party to sufficiently apprise the trial court of any alleged error so that it may be afforded the opportunity of avoiding a new trial. (Pet. at 18); see also Ryder's Estate, 91 Wn.2d at 114 (quoting Roumel v. Fude, 62 Wn.2d 397, 383 P.2d 283 (1963): "[t]he purpose is To enable the trial court to correct any mistakes . . . in time to prevent the unnecessary expense of a second trial."). Ms. Hor "formally excepted to the court's instructions, 17, 19, 26, 27, 29, . . . [but] did not except to the courts instructions 23, 24, or 25, as CR 51(f) requires." (Slip Op. at 11.) She claims that this approach places "form over substance," or that CR

51(f) is ambiguous and she should be permitted to move forward. (Pet. at 18-19.) But this Court's prior guidance actually safeguards against the injustice of a party inviting instructional error only to request a second bite at the apple. The Court of Appeals did not err in concluding Ms. Hor had waived any direct challenge to these instructions. They were proper.

## V. CONCLUSION

To the extent that Ms. Hor has preserved the alleged errors raised, her petition fails to meet the standard of RAP 13.4(b). The instructions were legally proper and gave both sides the ability to argue their theories of the case. Ms. Hor has not been prejudiced in her presentation of her theory of a negligent pursuit, which she vigorously advocated through experienced counsel. The jury verdict in favor of the City after weeks of trial should remain as the final disposition of this case, which does not involve any question of constitutional magnitude. The Court of Appeals correctly analyzed the issues raised. This Court should deny the petition.